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7
8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
9 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
10
PATRICIA KIELTY AND SUSAN Case No. 14-cv-0541-BAS(BGS)
11 || PATHMAN, on behalf of themselves
and all others similarly situated, ORDER GRANTING
12 o DEFENDANT’'S MOTION TO
13 Plaintiffs, DISMISS
V.
14 (ECF No. 11)
MIDLAND CREDIT
15 || MANAGEMENT, INC.,
16 Defendant.
17
18
19 Plaintiffs Patricia Kielty and SusaPathman (collectively “Plaintiffs”)
20 [[commenced this putative class action March 10, 2014 by filing a complaint
21 ||alleging Defendant Midland Credit Managent, Inc. (“Midland”) violated the
22 || Credit Repair Organizations Act (“CROA"15 U.S.C. 88 1679-1679j; Fair Debt
23 || Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”Y15 U.S.C. 88 1692-1692p; and California’s
24 ||Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices ARosenthal Act”),Cal. Civ. Code 88§
25 (|1788-1788.3. Midland now moves to dismiss the Complaint in its enirety
26 || pursuant to Federal Rule of Procedure 12(b)(6).
27 The Court finds this motion suitablfor determination on the papers
28 ||submitted and without oral argumergeeCiv. L.R. 7.1(d)(1). For the reasons set
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forth below, this CourGRANTS Midland’s motion to dismiss.
l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs are California residents wiubaim they each received letters and

brochures from Midland between April 13)12 and January 22014. (ECF No

1 (“Compl.”), at 11 4-5, 12-19.) Accongj to Plaintiffs, the letters and brochures

contained statements representing tividland could perform credit repair

services for them. These satents included the following:

Your past due balance . .. with FIRST CREDIT BANK OF
DELAWARE is being reported tthe credit reporting bureaus and
remains a negative item on your craéport. . . . We can help you get
back on track. . . . Once you makepayment, interest will stop being
applied to your account[,] [y]our edit report will be updated with the
payments you make[,] @] [tlhe account will appear on your credit
report as Paid in Full after you'xmompleted your payments].]

(Id. at § 12 (quoting an April 13, 2012 letter to Kielty).)

Special offers are now available to help you resolve your unpaid Cit
Bank account . . . [w]e can helpwyaget back on track. . . . [W]e will
not sue you for repayment of thisliglation. This account may still

be reported on your credit repoas unpaid, and repaying the
obligation may help toward improving your credit.

(Id. at T 17 (quoting a February 13, 2013 letter to Pathnian).)

Call 800-282-2644 and find out home can help you.

(Id. at 13 (quotingVhy Paying Your Bills Is So Important to Your Credit Rej
brochure [“Brochure”] sertb Kielty and Pathmany}.)

! The Complaint alleges that Midland sent letters materially identig

the February 2013 letter tds. Pathman on March 22013 and July 12, 2013
(Compl. at 1 19.)

According to Plaintiffs, Midlad mailed the Brochure to Ms. Pathm
with the February 2013 letter and Ms. Kielty with the April 2012 lettéd. at 1
13, 18.) The Brochure explains thepiontance of having a good credit repd
explains how a credit score is calcuthtend how payment history impacts f{
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[O]nce you've completed your aggd-upon payments to settle this
account, your credit report will be updated as “Paid in Full™!

(Id. at 1 15 (quoting March 28, 2013 ahdy 12, 2013 letters to Kielty).

Ms. Kielty also alleges Midland st her a letter onJanuary 22, 2014,

thanking her for a previous payment on her account and stating the following

Your [payment] has proven you are ir@sted in resolving this debt. .

. . [W]e would like to offer youthe opportunity to resolve your
account. To re-establish a positive payment history with us, the
following options are available[.]

(Id. at 1 16.)

Plaintiffs commenced this suit agaifMdidland on behalf of themselves and
“[a]ll consumers to Wwom Defendant mailed, withifive years preceding the date
of the complaint, [the Brochure] and/ar letter that includes a picture of [the
Brochure].” (d. at § 21.) Plaintiffs claim Midind’s Brochure violated the CROA,

as Midland is allegedly a credit repamrganization, by failing to provide

a

mandated consumer-rightetice and contract, by making false and misleading

representations, and by advising Pidig® to make untrue and misleading

statements. Id. at 11 50, 60-62, 65.) Ms. Kielty further alleges Midland rece
a monetary amount from herfbee performing credit repair services, in violati
of the CROA. [d. at § 58.) Finally, Plaintiffs claim Midland, acting as a d

collector, violated the FDCPA and congsently, California’'s Rosenthal Act Qy

making false and deceptive representatiots. af 1 68—70, 73.)

ved
DN
ebt

Plaintiffs seek actual damages for CROA violations, statutory damages
under the FDCPA and Rosenthal Act, punitdemages at the Court’s discretion,

calculation, and repeats the letter’s staptithat “[Midland]can help you get your

finances back on track.”ld. at 1 13.)

3 Plaintiffs allege Midland agn mailed Ms. Kielty letters an
brochures with this additional statementwas| as “nearly identical” statements
the April 13 letter on March 282013 and July 12, 2013Id( at § 14.)

—-3- 14cv0541
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as well as return of amounts paiduingtive relief, fees, and interestd.(at § 74.)
Midland now moves to dismiss tlaetion. (ECF No. 11 (“Mot.”).)
. STATEMENT OF LAW

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule bHE) of the Federal Rules of Civ

Procedure tests the legal sufficiency of thembk asserted in ¢hcomplaint. Fed,|

R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)Navarro v. Block 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9t@ir. 2001). The
court must accept all allegations of matefadt pleaded in # complaint as trug
and must construe them and draw all oeable inferences from them in favor
the nonmoving party.Cahill v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Cq 80 F.3d 336, 337-38 (9t
Cir. 1996). To avoid a Rule 12(b)(6)sdiissal, a complaint need not conti
detailed factual allegationsather, it must plead “enoughcta to state a claim t
relief that is plasible on its face.”Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 57(
(2007). “A claim has facial plausibilitwhen the plaintiff pleads factual conte
that allows the court to draw the readoleainference that the defendant is lia
for the misconduct alleged.’Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citin
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). “Where a comiplapleads facts that are merg
consistent with a defendant’s liability,stops short of the labetween possibility
and plausibility of etitlement to relief.” Id. at 678 (quotingfwombly 550 U.S. at
557) (internal quotations omitted).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide the ‘groundf his ‘entitle[ment] to
relief’ requires more than labels and cliusoons, and a formulaic recitation of tl
elements of a cause of action will not doTwombly 550 U.S. at 555 (quotin
Papasan v. Allain478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)). Aourt need not accept “leg;

conclusions” as truelgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Despite the deference the court
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pay to the plaintiff's allegations, it is nptoper for the court to assume that “the

[plaintiff] can prove facts tat [he or she] has not ajjed or that defendants ha

violated the . . . laws in ways that have not been allegefissociated Gen,
Contractors of Cal. v. CalState Council of Carpenterd59 U.S. 519, 526 (1983),
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Generally, courts may not consider teraal outside the complaint whg
ruling on a motion to dismissHal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner &.C
Inc., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 199Bjanch v. Tunnell14 F.3d 449

453 (9th Cir. 1994) (overruled on other groundsGmlbraith v. Cnty. of Santa
Clara, 307 F.3d 1119, 1121 (9th Cir. 20D2) “However, material which i$

properly submitted as part of tremplaint may be considered.’Hal Roach

n

0

Studios, Ing 896 F.2d at 1542 n.19. The cobunay also consider documents

specifically identified in the complaintivese authenticity is not questioned by

parties. Fecht v. Price Cq 70 F.3d 1078, 1080 n.1 (9@ir. 1995) (superseded hy

statute on other groundsyee also Branchl4 F.3d at 453-54. The court m
consider such documents so long as they are referenced in the complaint,
they are not physically attached to the pleadiBganch 14 F.3d at 453-54ee
also Parrino v. FHP, Inc, 146 F.3d 699, 706 (9th ICi1998) (extending rule t

documents upon which the plaintiff's comiplia“necessarily relies” but which are
not explicitly incorporated in the comi). Moreover, the court may consider
the full text of those documents evenemhthe complaint ques only selected

portions. Fecht 70 F.3d at 1080 n.1. The cours@lconsiders materials of whi¢h

it takes judicial notice.Barron v. Reich13 F.3d 1370, 1377 (9th Cir. 1994).

As a general rule, a court freelyagts leave to amend a complaint
dismisses. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(&gchreiber Distrib. Cov. Serv-Well Furniturg
Co,, 806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir. 1986). The court may deny leave to a
however, when “[it] determines that the gieion of other facts consistent with t
challenged pleading could not possibly cure the deficien§chreiber Distrib.
Co.,806 F.2d at 1401 (citin@onanno v. Thomas309 F.2d 320, 322 (9th Ci
1962)).

I
I
I
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1. DISCUSSION
A. CROA Claims

In Counts | through V, Plaintiffs alje Midland violated Sections 1679p,

1679c, and 1679d of the CROA. (Compl. at § 74(e).) Midland moves to di
these counts on the ground that it is not a credit repair organization and thd
not fall within the mandates of the CROASeeMot.) Secton 1679b of the
CROA prescribes certain practices by angrgon” or “credit rpair organization”;
similarly, Sections 1679and 1679d mandate discloes and regulate contrag
made by “credit repair organizations.Seel5 U.S.C. §§ 1679a-1679d. Thus,
survive the present motion, Plaintiffs my¢ad facts sufficient to plausibly shg
Midland is such an organizatiorSeeStout v. FreeScore, LL,G43 F.3d 680 (9t
Cir. 2014) (determining whether a company is a credit repair organization

motion to dismiss stage).

The CROA defines a “creditpair organization” as follows:

[Alny person who uses . . . the maits sell, provide, or perform (or
represent that such person canwdli sell, provide, or perform) any
service, in return for the paywnt of money or other valuable
consideration, for the exme or implied purpose of--

(i) improving any consumer’s credit record, credit history, or
credit rating; or

(ii) providing advice or assistaa to any consumer with regard
to any activity or service desbed in clause (i) . . >.

4 Plaintiffs do not contest tha&ection 1679b’s prohibitions again

certain actions by any “person” apply eme qualifying as, oaffiliated with, a
credit repair organizationSee, e.g.Enriquez v. Countrywide Home Loans, F9
814 F. Supp. 2d 1042,062—-63 (D. Haw. 2011) (disssing Section 1679b(a)(]
claim against defendant since it wagt “a credit-repair organization”flack v.
Fair Isaac Corp, 390 F. Supp. 2d 906, 91N.D. Cal. 2005) (considering CRO
claims against defendants, as deferslacbnceded they were credit rep
organizations, which are liable under W5S.C. 1679b(a)’s prohibitions agair
certain practices by any “person”).

> This definition excludes nonpitd, depository institutions, or “an
creditor (as defined in secti 1602 of this title) . . . tthe extent the creditor i
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15 U.S.C. § 1679a(3)(A). Tmall within the definition, a person need not actually

provide credit repair services; it “need omgpresentthat it can or will sell,

provide, or perform a service for the purpax providing advice or assistance tp a

consumer with regard to improving a canger’s credit record, credit history,

DI

credit rating.” Stout 743 F.3d at 685 (emphasis in original). In interpreting a

person’s advertisements, the Court lootsthe “overall net impression’ of th

e

subject advertisement to determine wimgssage a viewer may reasonably ascribe

toit.” Id. (quotingFTC v. Gill, 265 F.3d 944, 956 (9th Cir. 2001)).

The Ninth Circuit’s recent decision i8tout in which it found an onling

provider of credit scores, reports, and aonser credit information to be a “credit

repair organization,” is instructive.See743 F.3d at 681. IStout the provider,

FreeScore, went beyond warning consusnabout the harm caused by a p

credit report, to charging them initiah@ monthly fees in return for providing

merged credit reports and alertingth to changes to their reportkl. at 685-86.
In reversing the district court, the Ninth Circuit reasoned that FreeScore’s |
and television advertisements went ybad merely providing information abo

one’s credit” to recommending “auwarse of action to consumersld. at 686. In

other words, “FreeScore represents botplieitly and implicitly that its services

can improve or assist in improving a congui® credit record, tory, or rating.”

Id. Thus, the Ninth Circuit found thatelfoverall net impression” communicatéd

by FreeScore was that its services would improve consumers ciekdatt 686-87

(“The overall net impression communicated bgd3core is that in order to ‘repair

a damaged credit score,’” the ‘best solutiem’to ‘utilize[e] services like credi
monitoring,” which ‘can have an immexde effect on your credit score.”).
Unlike FreeScore, Midland does noftfeaf any service for the purpose

providing assistance or advice to impras@sumers’ credit record in return f

por

it

it

of

or

assisting the consumer to restructamey debt owed by the consumer to the

creditor.” 15 U.S.C. § 1679a(3)(B).

-7 - 14cv0541
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payment. Midland does not represent titgtservices can improve or assist|i

improving a consumer’s credit record, bist or rating. Midland, as a de
collector, is simply seeking the repagnt of debts owed and in doing

encourages the repayment of debts owed and acknowledgethe benefits o
repayment. Seeking the repayment of lat @mad utilizing “the potential of a lowe
credit score as motivation émcourage [a person] toypthe debt” does not make
person a credit repair organizatio®ee Spencer v. AriPremium Fin. Co., Ing.
No. 06-cv-160S, 2011 WL 4473178t *4 (W.D. N.Y. Sept. 26, 2011¥)ee also
Dauval v. Preferred Collection & Mgmt. Servs., .Inblo. 11cv2269, 2012 WI
5928622, at *4-5 (M.D. Fla. &V. 26, 2012) (holding that a debt collector seek

to collect a debt and offering to restone debtor’s credit in exchange for paymq

on the debt was not a credit repair organizatioRather, any benefit to Plaintiffs

credit score “would simply be an indireaollateral effect to the settlement
[their] debt.” Id.

Plaintiffs recount Midland’s statementacluding its so-called solicitation {
“Call 800-282-2644" and its representati that it “can help you get back ¢
track,” as evidence that Midland implicithegpresented it couldnprove or provide
advice on improving Plaintiffs’ credit recadn return for payment. (ECF No. ]
(“Opp.”), 7:7-8:20.) These statements faliort, however, of plausibly implyin
or leaving the net overall impressioratiMidland was selling credit-improveme
services or advice. As the Complaitdelf states, Midland was “directly q
indirectly attempting to collect a debtom Plaintiffs.” (Compl. at  10.
“Collection agencies, insofar as they dot seek compensation for credit rep
services, do not engage in the typeafdauct which Congress sought to regulats
enacting the CROA.”Oslan v. Collection Bur. of Hudson Valldyo. Civ.A. 01-

® In light of Igbal and Twombly the Court does not fin@8igalke v.

Creditrust Corp, 162 F.Supp.2d 996 (N.D. Ill. 2000 be persuasive. The meg
allegation that a “person” is a cred@pair organization is insufficient.
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2173, 2001 WL 34355648, at *E.D. Penn. Dec. 13, 2001) (collection letts
exhorting debtors to “TAKE ADVANTAE OF THIS GREAT OPPORTUNITY
TO HELP RESTORE YOUR CREDIT” did nohake a debt collection agency
credit repair organization).

There is no allegation in the Complaint that Midland offered service
advice for any additional feeCf. Reynolds v. Credit Solutions, In§41 F.Supp.2q
1248, 1249 (N.D. Ala. 2008) (finding alatesettlement company which charge

fee of 15% of the total amount of dett be reduced to be a credit rep

organization), vacated IBicard v. Credit Solutions, Inc564 F.3d 1249 (11th Cir.

2009) (holding the question wihether defendant is a cietepair organization is {
guestion for the arbitratorikennedy v. CompuCredit Holdings Carp F.Supp.3q
1314, 1315, 1321 (M.D. Fla. 2014) (findirige plaintiff plausibly alleged th

1%

)

4

a

!
5 a

air

A

D

defendant was a credit repair organatwhere the defendant offered debtor

plaintiff an opportunity to pay down a debhile at the same time qualifying for
new credit card through its Fresh Start SoluProgram, thus giving plaintiff th
“net overall impression” that “particiian in the Program will provide a ‘Freg
Start’ to improve any consuweris credit record, credit hsty, or credit rating”).

Rather, the Complaint alleges Midland svmerely seeking repayment of de

owed to it, or a potentially lesser amountt fould work out a plan with Plaintiffs.

(SeeCompl at 717.) Given the foregoing, tl@ourt finds that Plaintiffs hav

failed to plausibly allege that Midhd is a credit repair organization.

For these reasons, the CouBRANTS Midland’'s motion to dismiss

Plaintiff's Section 1679 claims with leave to amend.

B. FDCPA and Rosenthal Act Claims

Midland also moves to dismiss Cowik of the Complaint, which allege
Midland violated the FDCPA. To stadeclaim under the FDCPA, a plaintiff mu
allege “1) that he [or she] is a consumertHgt the debt arises out of a transact

entered into for personal purposes; 3) thatdefendant is a debt collector; and

-9 - 14cv0541
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that the defendant violated onetbé provision®f the FDCPA.” Freeman v. ABC

Legal Servs.827 F. Supp. 2d 1065, 1071 (N.D. Cal. 2011). The purpose ¢
FDCPA is to prevent debt collectors fmoresorting to duplicitous or abusiy
collection tactics.Seel5 U.S.C. § 1696(e). Given itamedial nature, courts mu
construe the FDCPA broadly in order to effect its purpos€tark v. Capital
Credit & Collection Serv., In¢460 F.3d 1162, 1176 (9th Cir. 2006).

The FDCPA bars debt collectors froosing “false representation[s] ¢
deceptive means to collect@itempt to collect any debt.”15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10
“[1]t is well established that ‘[a] debt dection letter is deceptive where it can
reasonably read to have two or maddferent meanings, one of which
inaccurate.” Gonzales v. Arrow Fin. Sery$60 F.3d 1055, 1061 (9th Cir. 201
(quotingBrown v. Card Serv. Cir464 F.3d 450, 455 (3d. Ci2006)). Plaintiffs
allege Midland made the following #e false or deceptive representations:

o “[F]alsely and misleadingly represt[ing] that [Midland] could
or would legally report Plaintiff's obligations as ‘Paid in Full”;
e “imply[ing] . . . negative infomation of Plaintiff's credit
reports could be permanently removed when it cannot”; and
o “falsely and deceptively represent[ing] that ‘interest will stop
being added to your account.”
(Compl.at 77 68—70°%

In evaluating claims of deception, ctaitake the perspective of the “leg

sophisticated” debtorSeeClark, 460 F.3d at 1171 (“[W]e seek to ensure that ¢

the least sophisticated debtor is ablenderstand, make informed decisions abq

! The FDCPA defines a “debt collect as one using “the mails in ar

business the principal purpose of which is tlollection of any debts, or [one] wik

regularly . . . attempts to collect . . .ode owed or due . . . another.” 15 U.S.G.

1692a(6). Neither party disputes thatdMnd is a debt collector within th
meaning of the statute S¢eOpp at 20 n.2.)

8 A Section 1692e violation alstreates liability under the Rosenth
Act. Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17.

—-10 - 14cv0541
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and participate fully and meaningfully the debt collection process.jee also
Caudillo v. Portfolio Recovery Assocblo. 12cv200(IEG), 2013 WL 4102155,
*2 (S.D. Cal. Aug. 13, 2013) {h this circuit, a debtollector’s liability under §
1692e of the FDCPA is an issue of lawgquir[ing] an objective analysis th:
takes into account whether the least saptased debtor would likely be misled k
a communication.” (quotingonzales660 F.3d at 1061)).
1. “Paid in Full” Representations

Midland’s letters to Plaintiffs statdat once all agreed-upon payments h
been received, their accounts will be dadesed “Paid in Full” and “the thre
major credit reporting agencies will be updated accordirfgl{Compl. at § 68
Exs. D-F.) Plaintiffs allege theseattments, offering to report the accounts
“Paid in Full,” rather than “Settled,” ar#alse, deceptive, and misleading,” sin
the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”) fbids furnishing inaccurate informatid
to a consumer reporting agency. (Opp 22:6-14 (quoting FCRA, 15 U.S{
8§ 1681s—-2(a)(1)(A).)

Midland contends it could report theldeas “Paid in Full,” regardless ¢
whether the consumers paid a lesseowam by agreement. Midland furth
contends that Plaintiffs fail to providany support for their assertion that
furnisher may not report a settled debtRaid in Full’” under the FDCPA. (Opg

at 22:16-18.) The Court agrees thather the FDCPA nor the FCRA explicitly

bar a debt collector from reporting a “settlebt as having been fully satisfied.

Plaintiffs cite two unpublished case® show that “major financig
institutions have interpreted this provision to mean . . . a furnisher may not re
settled debt as ‘Paid in Full.” Sge id.at 22:15-23:11.) Neither case, howe\

9

‘Paid in Full’” or “[tihe account will @pear on your credit report as Paid in F
after you've completed your paynts.” (Compl. at Exs. AC, H-J.) At least twg
of the letters received, however, includdisclaimer that “[t]his account may st
be reported on your credit report as ungaiompl. at Exs. E, F.)

—-11 - 14cv0541
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supports the broader proposition thae substantive law bars Midland frgm

reporting debts it setitewith consumers as “Paid in FullSee Schiano v. MBNA

No. 05-1771(JLL), 2013 WL 2452681, at tB.N.J. Feb. 11, 2013) (noting

dicta that the bank and consumers agrdedbank could not report that the de

was paid in full because it was ted for less than the amount owe
reconsideration deniedNo. 2013 WL 2452682 (D.N.J. Apr. 12, 2013), aifid,
2013 WL 2455933 (D.N.J. June 3, 201Gyossman v. Barclays Bank DeNo.

12-6238(PGS), 2014 WL647970, at *3 (Feb. 192014) (reciting bank’s

n
bt

),

|4

representation that reporting debas settled followed the Credit Resource

Reporting Guide (“CRRG"))see alsdn re JonesNo. 09-14499(BFK), 2011 WL
5025329, at *3 (Bankr. E.D. Vact. 21, 2011) (findinghe CRRG consists qf

“guidelines only” and is nota national, legally enforceable standard for
reporting of debts”). Thushe Court finds the Complaint fails to make a plaus
allegation that Midland’s representais that Plaintiffs’ accounts will b
considered “Paid in Full” and reported sich to the three major credit reporti
agencies violates the FDCPA.

2. Removal of Negative Information

Plaintiffs further allege Midland fadty implied negative information could

be removed from their credit repotfs.Where a claim of eception rests entirel
on the text of the communication, it mayresolved at the motion to dismiss st3
“if there was nothing deceptive-seeming about the communicatiewciry v. RIM
Acquisitions Funding, LLC505 F.3d 769, 77677 (7%@ir. 2007). “Although

established to ease the lot of the naive, [least sophisticated debtor] stand

does not go so far as to provide solacehi® willfully blind or non-observant.

Even the least sophisticated debtor autd to read collection notices in the

10 Plaintiffs fail to defend eithethis claim or the subsequent cla

regarding interest accrual in their @ggion to the motion to dismissS€eOpp. at
19:3-24:21.)
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entirety.” Campuzano-Burgos v. Miand Credit Mgmt., In¢.550 F.3d 294, 299

(3d Cir. 2008).

Here, having considered both the eapte cited in the Complaint and the

letters and Brochure attached td'ithe Court finds that the least sophisticated

debtor would not interprethe letters, which state thaach past due balance

“remains a negative item on your credipoet” and settling youdebts can “ge

your finances back on track”; and theoBhure, which informs consumers of t

[
he

negative impact to their credit score ofrgang large amounts of debt, to be offers

to erase existing negative history. Midland promises nothing more than regorting

any settled debt as fully paid. Accordipgthe Court finds the Complaint does not

plausibly allege Midland falsely iplied negative information could he

permanently removed from Plaintiffs’ credit reports.
3. Halting Interest Accrual

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that the regsentation that interest would stop be

ng

added to their accounts once payments hasen made is false or deceptive.

(Compl. at § 70.) Midland argues theseno basis for this allegation. (Mait

18:15-18.) The Court agrees. Even ifalégations of material fact are taken

true, Plaintiff's Complaint falls short adisserting any factsegarding Midland’s

ability to collect interest as the holder oétbebt. While Plaintiffs allege that the

as

original creditors waived their rights tolt interest, there is no allegation that

Midland could not collect interest othe accounts. Thus, the Court fin

Plaintiffs’ failure to plead facts beyorthe allegation that “interest could [nqt]

have been legally added to [thecounts]” merits dismissal.
For the above-stated reasons, Midland’s moticBRANTED with respect
to Count VI of the Complaint. Plaintiffsredicate their Ros¢hal Act claims in

11

Complaint, even whethe Complaint quotes only selected portior&eeBranch
14 F.3d at 453-54.
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The Court may consider the fullxteof documents attached to the
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Count VIl on Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims, as, fthe purposes of this case, violatio
of the FDCPA constitute violatns of the Rosenthal ActSee Riggs v. Prober 4
Raphael 681 F.3d 1097, 1100 (9th Cir. 2012)Accordingly, the Court alst
GRANTS Midland’s motion with respect to Count VII.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendamstion to Dismiss (ECF No. 11) i
GRANTED as to all claims, with leave to ante If Plaintiffs choose to file a
amended complaint, they must sl no later than March 2, 2015.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: January 28, 2015 (yitdng__ Faokaas

Ho1. Cynthia Bashant
United States District Judge
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